No. 71342-6-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 Insufficient evidence was presented to support Mr. Alexis's conviction for unlawful imprisonment, in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Article I, section 3.

 "I. Findings of Fact" must be stricken because they are judicial findings of fact, entered in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Article I, sections 3, 21, and 22.

3. "II. Conclusions of Law" must be stricken because the conclusions are based on the judicial findings of fact, entered in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Article I, sections 3, 21, 22.

4. Because abuse of a position of trust inheres in the offense of criminal mistreatment in the first degree, imposition of an exceptional sentence above the standard range on the charge of criminal mistreatment based on "abuse of a position of trust" was erroneous as a matter of law.

5. In the absence of substantial evidence the victim had a particular vulnerability, imposition of an exceptional sentence above the

standard range on both charges based on "particular vulnerability" was clearly erroneous.

6. In the absence of any finding or substantial evidence that the victim's particular vulnerability was a substantial factor in the commission of the offenses, imposition of an exceptional sentence above the standard range on both charges based on "particular vulnerability" was clearly erroneous.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The federal and state constitutional right to due process requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of the crime charged. An essential element of the crime of unlawful imprisonment is restraint of a person. Where the evidence established that Mr. Alexis's housemate restrained the victim and Mr. Alexis merely knew of the restraint and failed to act, was Mr. Alexis's right to due process violated when he was convicted of unlawful imprisonment? (Assignment of Error 1)

2. The federal and state constitutional rights to trial by jury and to due process prohibit imposition of an exceptional sentence above the standard range based on facts not admitted by the defendant or proven to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. The jury returned special verdicts that the victim was particularly vulnerable and Mr. Alexis abused a position of

trust. The court, however, entered additional factual findings which were neither admitted by Mr. Alexis nor proven to the jury. Must this Court strike the trial court's findings of fact and the conclusions of law based on those findings, and remand for sentencing within the standard range? (Assignment of Error 2, 3)

3. A factor inherent in the offense cannot be used to justify an exceptional sentence above the standard range because the Legislature necessarily considered that factor in establishing the standard range. The court imposed an exceptional sentence above the standard range for criminal mistreatment based on "abuse of a position of trust." By statute, however, criminal mistreatment can only be committed by a person who occupies a position of trust and abuses that trust. Did the trial court err as a matter of law when it imposed an exceptional sentence on the offense of criminal mistreatment based on abuse of a position of trust, when that factor inheres in the offense? (Assignment of Error 4)

4. An exceptional sentence above the standard range may be based on the victim's "particular vulnerability" only when the defendant knew or should have known of the victim's particular vulnerability and the particular vulnerability was a substantial factor in the commission of the offense. In the absence of proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the victim was particularly vulnerable and in the absence of any proof or finding that

the alleged particular vulnerability was a substantial factor in the commission of the offense, was the trial court clearly erroneous when it imposed an exceptional sentence based on this aggravating circumstance? (Assignment of Error 5, 6)

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In November 2008, 67-year-old Genevieve Alexis adopted 8-yearold N.A., and they lived in New York with N.A.'s two biological brothers and two adoptive brothers. RP 614, 617, 925. N.A. attended an elementary school that recommended placement in a full-time special education program. RP 931-32. Ms. Alexis disagreed with the recommendation, so, in August 2009, she sent N.A. to Seattle to live for one year with her adult son, Derron Alexis, and his housemate, Mary Mazalic, with the hope that the Seattle school district would better meet N.A.'s educational needs. RP 932-33.

One year later, in August 2010, when Ms. Mazalic and N.A. were at women's clothing store, two employees became concerned that Ms. Mazalic was verbally abusive to N.A., and N.A. was trembling, she had a "gash" on her wrist, and she appeared sick and very undernourished. RP 317-18, 326, 329, 331. The employees obtained Ms. Mazalic's name from her credit card receipt and called Child Protective Services (CPS). RP 319, 329. Later that day, two officers went to Mr. Alexis's home to conduct a

child welfare check. RP 309, 335. They removed N.A. and she was hospitalized that evening. RP 313, 341, 383.

The following day, forensic nurse Lori Moore examined N.A. and observed significant injuries in various stages of healing, ulcerations, and extreme malnourishment. RP 380, 382-83, 387, 395, 399, 423. N.A. complained of nausea, constipation, pain when urinating, and back pain. RP 391, 396. N.A. was weak, shaky, slow moving, underweight, her stomach was slightly distended, and her body temperature was below normal, all symptoms consistent with malnutrition. RP 394-97.

Dr. Carlos Villavicencio and Dr. James Feldman also examined N.A. Dr. Villavicencio diagnosed N.A. as suffering from extreme malnourishment, a urinary tract infection, and muscle wasting, and she had marks consistent with abuse. RP 524-26. Dr. Feldman similarly diagnosed N.A. as suffering from extreme malnourishment and muscle wasting, as well as a kidney infection, dry and cracked skin, sunken cheeks, prominent ribs, and fine body fuzz, all consistent with malnutrition, and scarring consistent with whipping and cigarette burns. RP 569-70, 575-76, 579.

At first, N.A. reported that Ms. Mazalic was solely responsible for her injuries and malnourishment. RP 688. Several months later, N.A.

reported that Mr. Alexis participated in the abuse, although to a much lesser extent. RP 689, 691.

In 2013, Mr. Alexis was charged with criminal mistreatment in the first degree, in violation of RCW 9A.42, 020, and unlawful imprisonment, in violation of RCW 9A.40.040, in addition to the aggravating circumstances on each count of abuse of a position of trust and particular vulnerability, as provided by RCW 9.94A.535(3)(b), (n). CP 81-82.¹

At trial, N.A. testified that Mr. Alexis and Ms. Mazalic were very nice when she first arrived at their home and she liked living with them. RP 619, 621. Ms. Mazalic took care of her, while Mr. Alexis worked nights, slept during the daytime, and spent most of his time in his bedroom. RP 647, 650. As the school year progressed, however, N.A. testified that Ms. Mazalic became "meaner and meaner." RP 647. She started beating N.A. with a belt, wire, and extension cords, and burned her wrist and ankle with cigarettes, sometimes securing a ball in N.A.'s mouth so she could not scream. RP 622, 628, 630, 670. N.A. testified that Mr. Alexis never hit her, although she acknowledged that she told Ms. Brady otherwise. RP 622, 636-38. One time, Ms. Mazalic locked N.A. in a metal dog crate and Mr. Alexis did not release her. RP 626-27. N.A. developed

¹ In 2012, at a separate trial, Ms. Mazalic was convicted of assault of a child in the first degree, criminal mistreatment in the first degree, and tampering with a witness.

problems with continence and Ms. Mazalic made her wear diapers. RP 631, 664. Ms. Mazalic was in charge of the household food and N.A.'s meal portions became increasingly smaller, and sometimes she was not fed at all. RP 624, 670. Even when Mr. Alexis suggested Ms. Mazalic feed N.A. or offered to provide N.A. food, Ms. Mazalic instructed him to not feed N.A., and he complied. RP 634, 640, 647, 650.

Following a jury trial, Mr. Alexis was convicted as charged. CP 59, 60. The jury also returned special verdicts on each count finding Mr. Alexis used his position of trust to facilitate the crimes and he knew or should have known N.A. was particularly vulnerable or incapable of resistance. CP 61, 62. Based on his offender score of '1,' Mr. Alexis faced a standard range concurrent sentence of 57-75 months for criminal mistreatment in the first degree and 3-8 months for unlawful imprisonment, to be served concurrently. CP 19. The court, however, imposed an exceptional sentence of 120 months for criminal mistreatment and 30 months for unlawful imprisonment, to be served consecutively. CP 20.

E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

- 1. The insufficiency of evidence and instructional error on the charge of unlawful imprisonment requires reversal.
 - a. <u>The State was required to produce sufficient evidence</u> to establish beyond a reasonable doubt every element of the crime of unlawful imprisonment.

The State bears the burden of producing sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of a crime charged. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); *State v. Deer*, 175 Wn.2d 725, 731, 287 P.3d 539 (2012). A criminal defendant's fundamental right to due process is violated when a conviction is based upon insufficient evidence. *Winship*, 397 U.S. at 358; *City of Seattle v. Slack*, 113 Wn.2d 850, 859, 784 P.2d 494 (1989); U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, "after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 318, 99 S.Ct. 628, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1970); accord *State v. Rose*, 175 Wn.2d 10, 14, 282 P.3d 1087 (2012). b. <u>The State presented insufficient evidence to</u> establish Mr. Alexis "restrained" N.A., an essential element of the offense of unlawful imprisonment.

RCW 9A.40.040 provides, "A person is guilty of unlawful

imprisonment if he or she knowingly restrains another person." To prove

this count, the State relied upon N.A.'s testimony that Ms. Mazalic locked

N.A. in a dog crate and that Mr. Alexis did not release her. N.A. testified:

- Q. Did Derron and Mary have a dog crate?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Do you know what that was made out of?
- A. Metal.
- Q. Metal?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did you ever have to stay in that?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Can you tell the jury about that?
- A. One day when Mary went to work, she put me in the crate, and I would have to stay in there locked up with a lock the piece that locks it.
- Q. Did Derron ever come downstairs when that was happening?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Tell the jury what happened with that.
- A. Well, I was making some noise in the crate, and he heard me, probably thinking that I was getting out, and came downstairs with a belt.
- Q. What did he say to you?
- A. I forgot.
- Q. Did he tell you he was going to do anything with the belt?
- A. No.
- Q. I notice you are looking over at him before you are answering. Are you worrying about saying anything?
- A. No.
- Q. Did he let you out of the crate?
- A. No.

RP 626-27. Noticeably missing was testimony that Mr. Alexis personally

placed N.A. in the crate, or that he assisted Ms. Mazalic in doing so.²

The State urged the jury to consider Mr. Alexis's liability as an

accomplice. In closing argument, the prosecutor stated:

[N.A.] talked about Derron and Mary and the dog crate incident. That is the Unlawful Imprisonment, but it's also important to the overall scheme in the house, and it shows you Derron's complicity, because Mary places [N.A.] in the dog crate and locks it, and then she leaves. Derron is trying to sleep upstairs. He comes downstairs with a belt in his hand when [N.A.] is making noise. He knows it. He doesn't let her out because, of course, it's easier to go to sleep if your child is locked up downstairs.

RP 1128-29.

Accomplice liability, however, does not extend to mere presence or failure to act. *State v. Jackson*, 137 Wn.2d 712, 722, 976 P.2d 1229 (1999). In *Jackson*, the defendants, husband and wife foster parents, were convicted of felony murder of their foster child, following a jury trial where the jury was instructed that accomplice liability could attach where a parent was present and failed to come to the aid of his or her child. 137 Wn.2d at 720-21. On appeal, their convictions were reversed on the grounds, *inter alia*, that the accomplice liability statute, unlike the Model

² The lack of evidence is reflected in the jury inquiry, "Can the court provide a diffanition [sic] of restrained the movement in a matter that substantially interfered with her liberty? CP 44.

Penal Code upon which the state statue was modeled, does not extend

liability to a person who fails to come to the aid of another. Id. at 722.

RCW 9A.08.020(3) provides:

(3) A person is an accomplice of another person in the commission of a crime if:

(a) With knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he or she

(i) Solicits, commands, encourages, or requests such other person to commit it; or

(ii) Aids or agrees to aid such other person in planning or committing it; or

(b) His or her conduct is expressly declared by law to establish his or her complicity.

In contrast, Model Penal Code § 2.06(3)(a)(iii) provides:

(3) A person is an accomplice of another person in the commission of an offense if:

(a) with the purpose of promoting or facilitating the commission of the offense, he

(iii) having a legal duty to prevent the commission of the offense, fails to make proper effort so to do.

(Emphasis added).

After comparing the two statutes, the Jackson Court ruled:

[W]e are bound to conclude that the Legislature's failure to include the language of MPC § 2.06(3)(a)(iii) in Washington's accomplice liability statute was purposeful and evidenced its intent to reject the concept of extending accomplice liability for omissions to act. Significantly, the Legislature has imposed liability in other criminal statutes for omission to act. For example, it has done so in RCW 9A.42.020, the first degree criminal mistreatment statute, and in RCW 9A.42.030, the second degree criminal mistreatment statute. Id. at 723.

Similarly here, Mr. Alexis's mere knowledge of N.A.'s restraint and failure to act cannot support his conviction for unlawful imprisonment, either as a principal or as an accomplice.

- c. <u>The jury was not instructed to consider accomplice</u> liability for the offense of unlawful imprisonment.
 - *i.* Jury instructions must clearly set forth the applicable law and the State's burden of proof.

When read as a whole, instructions must clearly inform the jury of the applicable law and the allocation of the burden of proof, and not be misleading. *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). Instructions that fail to make clear the applicable law or that reduce the State's burden of proof violate a defendant's right to due process. *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 306, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). "[T]he test is whether the jury is informed of the State's burden in an understandable way." *State v. Teal*, 117 Wn. App. 831, 839, 73 P.3d 402 (2003), *aff'd*, 152 Wn.2d 333, 96 P.3d 974 (2004) (citing *State v. Ng*, 110 Wn.2d 32, 41, 750 P.2d 632 (1988)).

The State must prove accomplice liability beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Cronin*, 142 Wn.2d 568, 579-82, 14 P.3d 752 (2000); *Teal*, 117 Wn. App. at 839. Therefore, the jury must be clearly instructed that the State bears the burden of proving accomplice liability beyond a

reasonable doubt.

ii. The jury was not instructed to consider accomplice liability on the charge of unlawful imprisonment or that the State bore the burden of proving accomplice liability beyond a reasonable doubt.

The jury was instructed in relevant part:

To convict the defendant of the crime of unlawful imprisonment ...the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That during the time period beginning on or about the 7^{th} day of September, 2010 and concluding on or about the 15^{th} day of August, 2011 the defendant restrained the movements of N.A., in a manner that substantially interfered with her liberty....

CP 56 (Instruction No. 9). Significantly, in contrast, the jury was

specifically instructed to consider Mr. Alexis's liability either as a

principal or as an accomplice on the charge of criminal mistreatment:

To convict the defendant of the crime of criminal mistreatment in the first degree ... each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

1. That during the time period beginning on or about the 7th day of September, 2010 and concluding on or about [sic] 15th day of August, 2011 *the defendant, or a person to whom the defendant was an accomplice*, withheld any of the basic necessities of life from N.A.

CP 52 (Instruction No. 5) (emphasis added). In this context, the instruction

defining accomplice liability was insufficient to direct the jury to consider

accomplice liability for the charge of unlawful imprisonment. See CP 51 (Instruction No. 4).

Moreover, the "reasonable doubt" instruction and the "to convict" instruction clearly set forth the State's burden as to the elements of the offense, but the definitional instruction on the accomplice liability was completely silent as to the State's burden of proof. Because accomplice liability and the State's burden of proof were included in the "to convict" instruction for criminal mistreatment, but not included in the "to convict" instruction for unlawful imprisonment, the instructions were misleading and improperly relieved the State of its burden as to accomplice liability, in violation of Mr. Alexis's right to a jury finding of every fact necessary for a conviction beyond a reasonable doubt.

c. <u>The proper remedy is reversal of Mr. Alexis's conviction</u> for unlawful imprisonment.

Mr. Alexis's conviction for unlawful imprisonment was based on insufficient evidence that he restrained N.A., either as a principal or as an accomplice. A conviction based on insufficient evidence cannot stand. *State v. Veliz*, 176 Wn. App. 849, 865, 298 P.3d 75 (2013). To retry Mr. Alexis for the same conduct would violate the prohibition against double jeopardy. *Burks v. United States*, 437 U.S. 1, 18, 98 S. Ct. 2141, 57 L.Ed.2d 1 (1979); *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 103, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). Mr. Alexis's conviction for unlawful imprisonment must be reversed and the charge dismissed with prejudice.

In addition, instructions that do not make clear the applicable law, are misleading, or that relieve the State of its burden of proof are errors of constitutional magnitude that may be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Peters*, 163 Wn. App. 836, 847, 261 P.3d 199 (2011); *State v. Atkinson*, 113 Wn. App. 661, 665, 54 P.3d 702 (2002); RAP 2.5(a). A challenge to jury instructions is reviewed *de novo. State v. Yates*, 161 Wn.2d 714, 749, 168 P.3d 359 (2007).

Instructions may be both accurate and misleading. *Furfaro v. City* of Seattle, 144 Wn.2d 363, 382, 27 P.3d 1160 (2001). Here, the jury was provided an accurate definition of accomplice liability, immediately followed by a "to convict" instruction for criminal mistreatment that referred to accomplice liability and the State's burden to prove liability as either a principal or an accomplice beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 51, 51. On the other hand, the omission of any parallel language in the "to convict" instruction for unlawful imprisonment was improperly confusing and misleading, requiring reversal of Mr. Alexis's conviction for unlawful imprisonment.

Further, instructions that relieve the State of its burden of create structural error that is not subject to a harmless error analysis. "[W]here

the instructional error consists of a misdescription of the burden of proof, [it] vitiates *all* the jury's findings." *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 281, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993) (emphasis in original); *accord State v. Smith*, 174 Wn. App. 359, 368, 298 P.3d 785 (2013) (defective reasonable doubt instruction is structural error, is presumed prejudicial, and is not subject to harmless error analysis). Here, because the instructions relieved the State of its burden of proving accomplice liability beyond a reasonable doubt for the charge of unlawful imprisonment, reversal is automatically required.

Even under a harmless error analysis, reversal is required. A constitutional error is presumed prejudicial unless the State can show "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967). Instructional error on accomplice liability is not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, unless uncontroverted evidence established the defendant acted as a principal. *State v. Brown*, 147 Wn.2d 330, 341-42, 58 P.3d 889 (2002). There was no such evidence here. Rather, the uncontroverted evidence established that Mr. Alexis was merely aware of the restraint and failed to act. Under the circumstances, the State cannot establish that failure to properly and clearly instruct the

jury on accomplice liability and its burden of proof on the charge of unlawful imprisonment was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Reversal of Mr. Alexis's conviction for unlawful imprisonment is required.

2. The trial court erroneously imposed an exceptional sentence above the standard range based on facts found by the court, and not limited to the facts found by the jury, in violation of Mr. Alexis's right to jury trial and due process.

It is axiomatic that a criminal defendant has the constitutional right to a jury trial and to proof beyond a reasonable doubt. *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 301, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004); *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-21, 616 P.2d 628 (1980); U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 21, 22. Thus, an exceptional sentence above the standard range may be based only on facts either admitted by the defendant or found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. *Blakely*, 542 U.S. at 304; *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 476-77, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000).

Here, on each count, the jury returned a special verdict that Mr. Alexis knew or should have known N.A. was particularly vulnerable or incapable of resistance and that he used his position of trust to facilitate the commission of the crimes. CP 40, 41. At sentencing, however, the court did not limit itself to the jury's findings but, rather, entered the

following findings and conclusions:

I. FINDINGS OF FACT

The defendant was responsible for Mary Mazalic as her caregiver and was responsible for N.A. The defendant was N.A.'s adoptive brother. She was sent to his home. She was particularly vulnerable and the defendant knew it. The defendant was not merely a person with his "head in the sand." He acted alone and as an accomplice, causing N.A.'s severely starved & emaciated condition. Based on the jury's finding that N.A. was a particularly vulnerable victim, and that he abused a position of trust which facilitated the commission of these crimes, the Court finds substantial & compelling reasons to impose an exceptional sentence.

II. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

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