113484



11342-4

NO. 71342-6-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

#### DERRON P. ALEXIS,

Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

MARA J. ROZZANO Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

### **

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

## A. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FOR A RATIONAL TRIER OF FACT TO CONVICT THE DEFENDANT OF UNLAWFUL IMPRISONMENT.

Under the applicable standard of review, there will be sufficient evidence to affirm a criminal conviction if any rational trier of fact, viewing the evidence most favorably toward the State, could have found the essential elements of the charged crime were proved beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Kintz, 169 Wn.2d 537, 551, 238 P.3d 470 (2010). A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence admits the truth of the States' evidence. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. State v. Hosier, 157 Wn.2d 1, 8, 133 P.3d 936 (2006).

In testing the sufficiency of the evidence, the reviewing court does not weigh the persuasiveness of the evidence. Rather, it defers to the trier of fact on issues involving conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the weight of the evidence. State v. Stewart, 141 Wn. App. 791, 795, 174 P.3d 111 (2007). Evidence favoring the defendant is not considered. State v. Randecker, 79 Wn.2d 512, 521, 487 P.2d 1295 (1971) (negative effect of

defendant's explanation on State's case not considered), <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 62 Wn. App. 53, 58 n.2, 813 P.2d 156 (1991) (defense evidentiary inference cannot be used to attack sufficiency of evidence to convict). Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and are not subject to review. <u>State v. Camarillo</u>, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990); <u>State v. Cantu</u>, 156 Wn.2d 819, 831, 132 P.3d 725 (2006).

A person commits unlawful imprisonment if he knowingly restrains another. RCW 9A.40.040(1). To restrain someone is to restrict their movements without consent and without legal authority in a manner that interferes substantially with that person's liberty. RCW 9A.40.010(1). Restraint is without consent if it is accomplished by physical force or intimidation. Parents can be guilty of unlawful imprisonment of their own children in circumstances where the restrictions on the children's movements, viewed objectively, are excessive, immoderate, or unreasonable. State v. Kinchen, 92 Wn. App. 442, 444, 963 P.2d 928 (1998).

In the case at bar, there is sufficient evidence to prove the defendant acted as a principal in restraining N.A. The defendant used the belt to intimidate her, so as to prevent her from attempting to escape from the dog crate. He took these actions when the co-

defendant was away from the home. Although the co-defendant placed N.A. in the dog crate, the defendant acted independently of the co-defendant in his continued restraint of N.A.'s. There was ample evidence the defendant was acting as the principal and as well as an accomplice in unlawfully imprisoning N.A.

Viewed in the light most favorable to the State, there is sufficient evidence the defendant knowingly acted as a principal to physically restrain N.A. by intimidating her to prevent her attempted escape from the dog crate. N.A. was familiar with the belt as she testified the defendant's used it to beat her "a lot". 4RP 637-38.

## B. ACCOMPLICE LIABILITY IS NOT AN ELEMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL CHARGE AND THEREFORE DOES NOT NEED TO BE INCLUDED IN THE 'TO CONVICT' INSTRUCTION.

The defendant objects for the first time on appeal to the omission of the phrase, "or an accomplice" from the 'to convict' instruction for unlawful imprisonment; asserting that the omission relieved the state of its burden of proving accomplice liability beyond a reasonable doubt. Appellant's Brief 14-15. The defendant proposed identical instructions at trial. 6RP 1095-1096.

Instructions must be considered as a whole and the reviewing court must assume that the jury followed the instructions.

When the trial court gives the standard 'burden of proof' instruction

and the standard accomplice instruction and the elements or 'to convict' instruction, the instructions correctly state the law, are not misleading to the jury and permit the defense counsel to argue his theory of the case. <u>State v. Teaford</u>, 31 Wn. App. 496, 500, 644 P.2d 136, 137 (1982).

Accomplice liability is not an element of the crime, so it does not have to be included in the "to convict" instruction. "Accomplice liability, contrary to [the defendant's] argument is not an element of the crime charged. Nor is it an alternative means of committing a crime." State v. Teal, 117 Wn. App. 831, 838, 73 P.3d 402, 407 (2003) aff'd, 152 Wn.2d 333, 96 P.3d 974 (2004). "Including accomplice language—'the defendant or an accomplice'—in the 'to convict' instruction is an approved practice. But it is not a required practice..." Id. "Considered as a whole, the instructions required the jury to determine defendant's liability as an accomplice in light of the elements of the principal crimes ... and under the overall requirement that criminal liability must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. There was no error." Teaford, 31 Wn. App. at 500.

The jury was properly instructed on the State's burden of proof and the presumption of innocence and accomplice liability.

CP 50-51 (Instructions No. 3 and 4). The jury was properly instructed on the element of unlawful imprisonment in the 'to convict' instruction for that charge. CP 56 (Instruction No. 9). The court included the phrase, "or a person to whom the defendant was an accomplice" in the 'to convict' instruction for criminal mistreatment. CP 52 (Instruction No. 5).

The defendant argues that because the phrase ""or a person to whom the defendant was an accomplice" was included in the criminal mistreatment "to convict" instruction, omitting it in the unlawful imprisonment instruction relieved the State of its burden of proof of accomplice liability as to that charge. However, the jury was accurately instructed as to the state's burden of proof, the elements of the offense and the definition of accomplice liability; the state was not relieved of its burden.

Even if, under these limited circumstances, not including the "or a person to whom the defendant was an accomplice" phrase in the unlawful imprisonment instruction was an omission, it does not follow that the State was relieved is its burden of proof. "[N]ot every omission or misstatement in a jury instruction relieves the State of its burden so as to require reversal. Therefore, a harmless error

analysis is warranted." <u>State v. Berube</u>, 150 Wn.2d 498, 505, 79 P.3d 1144 (2003).

There was ample evidence for the jury to convict the defendant as principal so any alleged error in the accomplice liability instruction or unlawful imprisonment instruction is harmless as it appears beyond reasonable doubt that error did not contribute to ultimate verdict. When it is clear a defendant acted as a principal in the crime, error in the accomplice instruction is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. "[I]t is clear from the record that [the defendant] was a principal as to both charges. In these instances, the erroneous accomplice instruction is again harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Brown, 147 Wn.2d 330, 342, 58 P.3d 889, 895 (2002).

# C. BEING A PERSON WHO ASSUMES THE RESPONSIBILITY TO PROVIDE THE BASIC NECESSITIES OF LIFE TO THE VICTIM IS AN ELEMENT OF FIRST DEGREE CRIMINAL MISTREATMENT SO IS NOT PROPERLY CONSIDERED AS AN AGGRAVATING FACTOR FOR SENTENCING.

The defendant objects to the finding that the defendant abused a position of trust as applied to count 1 and victim vulnerability as to both counts. Appellant's Brief at 20, 21 and 25. Since a familial, same household relationship or person who assumes the responsibility to provide the basic necessities of life is

an element of first degree criminal mistreatment, and that is the position of trust argued in this case, the state concedes abuse of a position of trust is inherent in the offense and cannot be used as an aggravating circumstance with regard to count 1. However, this does not mean the matter should be remanded for sentencing within the standard range. "[N]ot every aggravating factor must be valid to uphold an exceptional sentence, so long as [the reviewing] court is satisfied that the trial court would have imposed the same sentence based on the factors that are upheld." State v. Ermels, 156 Wn.2d 528, 539, 131 P.3d 299, 303 (2006). Here, the trial court expressly found, it would "impose the same exceptional sentence on each aggravating factor independent of the other." CP 29.

The defendant does not challenge the finding with regard to the charge of unlawful imprisonment. Being a familial or same household relationship is clearly not an element of unlawful imprisonment. Therefore, the defendant's actions amounted to an abuse of his position of trust toward N.A. and can be considered as an aggravating factor by the sentencing court with regard to count 2. Berube, 150 Wn.2d at 513.

## D. THE COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED THE AGGREVATING FACTOR OF VICTIM VULNERABILITY WHEN SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT.

At sentencing, the court authorized to impose an exceptional sentence based on the jury finding the two aggravating factors of victim vulnerability and abuse of position of trust on each count. The sentencing court indicated it would impose the same exceptional sentence on each aggravating factor independent of the other. The court entered written findings of fact and conclusions of law to support the exceptional sentence imposed based on the record. CP 29.

A sentencing court may impose an exceptional sentence for "substantial and compelling reasons." RCW 9.94A.535. An exceptional sentence will only be overturned if the reasons for the sentence are unsupported by the record, the reasons do not justify an exceptional sentence, or the sentence is either clearly excessive or clearly too lenient. RCW 9.94A.585(4). Whether the reasons justify an exceptional sentence is reviewed de novo. The trial court's reasoning will be upheld unless it is clearly erroneous. Berube, 150 Wn.2d at 512.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to have a jury determine 'any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond

the prescribed statutory maximum,' other than the fact of a prior conviction. State v. Williams, 159 Wn. App. 298, 315, 244 P.3d 1018, 1026 (2011) quoting Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 301, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 2537, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004). A sentencing court is limited to the facts that are reflected in the jury verdict when imposing sentence. "Our precedents make clear, however, that the "statutory maximum" for Apprendi purposes is the maximum sentence a judge may impose solely on the basis of the facts reflected in the jury verdict or admitted by the defendant." Blakely 542 U.S at 303. The relevant 'statutory maximum' is not the maximum sentence a judge may impose after finding additional facts, but the maximum he may impose without any additional Williams, 159 Wn. App. at 315. Thus, when an findings. aggravating factor is found by the jury, the trial court is authorized to impose an exceptional sentence. Id. at 316.

However, a statute requires the trial court to set forth the reasons for its decision to impose a sentence outside the standard sentence range. RCW 9.94A.535. These reasons must be set forth in written findings of fact and conclusions of law. RCW 9.94A.535. The reasons set forth in the written findings of fact and conclusions of law are not restricted only to those facts found by the jury. This

is because the trial court may, in determining the appropriate sentence within the authorized range, consider facts beyond those found by the jury. <u>Id</u>.

In the case at bar, the court issued findings of fact that are supported by the record and reflect the jury's verdicts as to the charged offenses and the findings of the aggravating factor. The court's findings support the court's imposition of the exceptional sentence of 120 months on count 1 and 30 months on count 2, to run consecutively. CP 28-29.

The aggravating circumstance of victim vulnerability applies to both counts and is supported by the record. An exceptional sentence in warranted where the facts show conduct more egregious than the typical conduct for the offense. State v. Wilson, 96 Wn. App. 382, 388, 980 P.2d 244, 247 (1999).

In the case at bar neither offense is a crime whose elements require proof of the victim's young age. So N.A.'s age could be considered by the jury as a factor in determining her vulnerability. The Olive court also noted that "[g]iven the evident disparity in size and strength between defendant and the victim, the trial court justifiably relied on the particular vulnerability of the victim." State v. Olive, 47 Wn. App. 147, 153, 734 P.2d 36, 39 (1987). The court

has also found victim vulnerability where "[the defendant] perpetuated the abuse by psychological means designed to keep the victim within the cycle of abuse." State v. Brown, 55 Wn. App. 738, 753-54, 780 P.2d 880, 888 (1989).

Evidence at trial provided the jury with ample bases for finding this aggravating factor. At the time she came to live with the defendant, N.A. was 9 years old. N.A. was an orphan, adopted by the defendant's mother in New York. Any agency monitoring that adoption would be in New York. N.A. was uprooted from her home in New York and brought to live with the defendant. N.A.'s two younger brothers remained in New York. N.A. had no family in this area other than the defendant. At the time her abuse was discovered, N.A. was 10 years old and extremely slight for her age; when seen at the hospital, she weighed 51 lbs., the average size of a 7 year old. The defendant was 250 lbs. and trained as an MMA martial artist.

The defendant argues that the victim's vulnerability was not a factor in these offenses placing the blame on the co-defendant's mental illness. However, the defendants' pattern of abuse and neglect would not have been attempted on an adult or even a physically fit, 16 year old male child with a network of friends and

family in the area to rely upon. The victim's vulnerability was a primary factor giving rise to these offenses; she was selected as the victim because of her particular vulnerability. The sentencing court specifically found it would impose the same exceptional sentence on each aggravating factor independent of the other. There is a legal and factual basis to support the imposition of an exceptional sentence.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

The judgment and sentence should be affirmed.